IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-286 Lower Tribunal No. 94-1299

EDDIE LEE SEXTON

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert T. Strain Florida Bar No. 0325961 Assistant CCRC Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr. - Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Eddie Lee Sexton's motion for post-conviction relief which was brought pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851.

Citations shall be as follows: The record on appeal concerning the 1998 retrial proceedings shall be referred to as R _____ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers. The postconviction record on appeal will be referred to as PCR _____ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers, and as "PCR-A _____" for those postconviction volumes marked as "addition." All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

This appeal is being filed in order to address substantial claims of error under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and corresponding provisions of the Florida constitution. These claims demonstrate that appellant was deprived of his right to a fair and reliable retrial and that the proceedings, resulting in his conviction and death sentence, violated fundamental constitutional imperatives. Furthermore, as to the denial of appellant's motion for post-conviction relief, there has been an abuse of discretion and a lack of competent, substantial evidence to support certain of the trial judge's conclusions.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Because of the seriousness of the claims at is sue and the stakes involved, Eddie Lee Sexton, a death-sentenced inmate on Death Row at Union Correctional Institution, requests that this Court permit oral argument on the issues raised in his appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 11, 2003, the postconviction court entered its Order Denying, in Part, and Granting Evidentiary Hearing on Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence (As Amended). The court issued the order after reviewing the defendant's Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851 motion filed on March 21, 2002; the State's response filed on June 19, 2002; the arguments of counsel presented at the February 21, 2003, case management conference; the defendant's witness list filed on February 21, 2003; the defendant's list and exhibits on Claims I and II filed on February 21, 2003, and the court record and file. (PCR Vol. 2 p. 201). By the order, the court granted an evidentiary hearing, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(f)(5)(A)(i), on Claims II and VIII. On March 13, 2003, the court entered its Order Amending Claim VIII of the Court's Order Denying, in Part, and Granting Evidentiary Hearing on Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence and ruled that "to the extent that this claim references errors that allegedly occurred at the guilt phase of Defendant's trial, no relief is warranted. To the extent that this claim references errors that allegedly occurred at the penalty phase of Defendant's trial, based on the Court's granting of an evidentiary hearing on claim II, the Court reserves ruling on claim VIII." (PCR Vol. 3 p. 410). In view of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(f)(5)(D), both orders advised the defendant that "he may not appeal the partial denial of his Motion until such time as a final Order has been issued." (PCR Vol. 2, p. 231; PCR Vol. 3 p. 412).

The evidentiary hearing consisted of the following. Trial attorneys Rick Terrana and Robert Fraser testified on April 6, 2006. State expert Dr. Barbara Stein testified on May 12, 2006. Defense expert Jan Vogelsang testified on July 28, 2006. At the July 28, 2006, hearing, by stipulation of the parties or by previous order of the Court, deposition transcripts were filed as exhibits for the Court's consideration in lieu of hearing testimony for the following witnesses as indicated: the April 20, 2005, deposition of defense witness David Sexton; the June 8, 2005, deposition of defense expert Dr. David McCraney; and the June 13, 2006, deposition of State witness Otis Sexton. (PCR Vol. 4 p. 380; PCR-A Vol. 10 p. 1895). This appeal has properly come before this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS 1998 RE-TRIAL

On direct appeal, this Court summarized the facts of the re-trial as follows:

Upon retrial, Sexton was again convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death. Although much of the testimony introduced at the second trial was similar to the testimony introduced at the first trial, Willie testified. FN1. In exchange for his testimony against Sexton, Willie pled guilty to second-degree murder and was sentenced to twenty-five years imprisonment. The State's theory of prosecution was that Sexton so totally dominated, controlled and directed every facet of Willie's life that Willie killed Joel at Sexton's direction. On retrial, the State introduced the following evidence.

(FN1. As noted in this Court's opinion in <u>Sexton</u>, 697 So.2d at 834-35, Willie was named a codefendant in Joel's death in the first trial but was later found incompetent to stand trial)

Sexton fled to Florida in 1993 with his family and the victim to avoid arrest and prevent the Ohio Department of Human Services ("DHS") from removing his children from the home. FN2. Sexton was the father of thirteen children, not counting the three children he allegedly fathered with his two daughters. After leaving Ohio, Sexton and his family moved to Oklahoma, Indiana, and eventually to Hillsborough River State Park in Florida. During this time, Sexton trained his children to use guns and a garrote, an apparatus used in strangulation, in case authorities came to return the children to foster care.

(FN2. DHS had Sexton's six youngest children removed from the home in 1992. Several months later, three of the children were returned to Sexton's wife, Mrs. Sexton, but Sexton was ordered to have no contact with the children or with Mrs. Sexton. Following a hearing on the matter in November 1992, Sexton barricaded himself and his family in their home demanding the immediate return of his three children who remained in foster care. Sexton threatened to kill anyone from Child Protective Services or the police department who tried to take his children. Eventually, Sexton turned himself in to the authorities. A search of the Sexton residence revealed a .357 revolver, a 20-gauge shotgun, and seventy rounds of ammunition. After his release, the Sextons failed to appear at a scheduled court hearing. Arrest warrants were issued for Sexton and his wife in October 1993).

While residing in Hillsborough River State Park, Sexton's infant grandchild, Skipper Lee Good, the son of Pixie and Joel, died under suspicious circumstances. Several of the Sexton children, including Pixie, testified about the events surrounding the baby's death. Pixie testified that the baby had been ill for several weeks, but Sexton would not allow her to take the child to a doctor out of fear that authorities would find him and his family. One night, the baby would not stop crying. Sexton ordered Pixie to quiet the baby or else he would do it for her. Pixie put her hand over the baby's mouth until the child stopped crying. The next morning the baby was dead. Sexton instructed Willie and Joel to bury the baby in the woods inside the Hillsborough River State Park. Pixie was eventually arrested for the death of the baby and entered into a plea bargain with the State. FN3

(FN3. In exchange for a plea to manslaughter and testimony against Sexton, Pixie was sentenced to twelve years imprisonment).

According to Pixie, Joel was very upset over the loss of his child and wanted to bring the child back to Ohio for a proper burial. Shortly before the death of his infant son, Joel had learned Sexton was the father of Pixie's two daughters. After Joel confronted Sexton with this information, Sexton and Joel got into a fight. Because Joel knew about the baby's death and the fact that Sexton fathered two children with his daughter, Pixie, Sexton would not allow Joel and Pixie to return to Ohio. Sexton feared Joel would provide authorities with information pertaining to the Sexton family's current whereabouts, the death of the baby, and ongoing child abuse.

Several of the Sexton children, including Willie, Pixie, Matthew and Charles testified that Sexton often referred to Joel as a "snitch" and stated that a "good snitch is a dead snitch." According to their testimony, Sexton often stated that Joel had to be disposed of because he "knew too much." In addition to the testimony of the Sexton children, Gail Novak, a librarian at the University of South Florida, also testified about a statement Sexton made in which he indicated his desire to have Joel killed. Novak testified that Sexton, Pixie, Joel and Willie came into the library in November 1993 and that Pixie requested information about crib death. Novak stated that she had overheard Willie telling Sexton that Joel intended to go back to Ohio. Sexton replied that the only way that Joel would be returning to Ohio would be in a "body bag."

At some point, the Sextons moved to Little Manatee State Park, the place where Joel was killed. Willie testified to the following course of events surrounding the murder. FN4. As Joel continued to express his interest in returning to Ohio, Sexton began telling his son, "Willie, I got a job for you to do," and that he wanted Willie to "put Joel to sleep." On the day of Joel's murder, Sexton told his wife that "today is the day that Willie is going" to kill Joel. Thereafter, Sexton, his wife, and a few of the younger Sexton children left the campsite for a picnic. Sexton's daughters Sherri Sexton, FN5. Pixie, and their respective children, along with Willie and Joel, stayed behind. Soon thereafter, Willie and Joel left the campsite and went into the woods. Both Pixie and Willie testified that Sexton returned from the picnic and joined Willie and Joel in the woods. According to Willie, Sexton told him to take the garrote out of his pocket and place it around Joel's neck. After placing the garrote around Joel's neck, Sexton told Willie to turn it "fast and hard." Willie told Joel that he was "just trying to put you to sleep." While Willie twisted the rope, Joel yelled "Eddie" (Sexton). After Willie saw blood coming out of Joel's ears, he asked Sexton what had happened. Sexton stated that Willie had just killed Joel. Sexton subsequently kicked the body and, upon seeing Joel's leg move, told Willie to "finish him off."

(FN4. On cross-examination, Willie admitted that he previously had told different versions of the events surrounding the murder of Joel. According to Willie, he told different versions of the murder because he feared Sexton and because he wanted to get back at Sexton for all of the bad things that Sexton did to him). (FN5. Sherri testified for the defense in the first trial, see Sexton, 697 So.2d at 835, but did not testify in this trial).

In addition to Willie, several other Sexton children testified to the events surrounding the murder of Joel and provided testimony that differed from Willie's recollections of the homicide. For instance, according to Pixie, on the day of Joel's murder, Sexton and Willie had gone for a walk. Approximately thirty minutes later, Sexton and Willie returned. After Sexton and several family members left for the family picnic, Pixie and Sherri went into the camper to prepare lunch, while Joel and Willie watched television together. Thereafter, Pixie saw Willie and Joel go into the woods. She followed them and found them smoking cigarettes. Upon her return to the campsite, she heard Joel yelling, "Ed." Pixie and Sherri ran into the woods and found Willie holding a rope around Joel's neck. Thus, Pixie and Sherri ran back to the campsite and told Sexton, who had returned from the picnic, that Willie was hurting Joel. After leading Sexton into the woods to find Joel and Willie, Pixie observed Willie holding Joel in his lap. According to Pixie, Sexton proceeded to kick Joel's leg and, when Joel's leg moved, ordered Pixie to return to campsite and told Willie to "finish him off."

Another one of Sexton's children, Charles Sexton, who did not testify at the first trial, also testified that he witnessed Joel's murder. His version of the murder differed from both Pixie and Willie's version. In particular, Charles testified that he witnessed the murder and that Sexton actually committed the final act that led to Joel's death. Charles claimed that although he initially went along on the family picnic, he returned from the picnic sooner than the rest of the family. After finding the campsite empty upon his return, Charles walked into the woods and observed both Sexton and Willie killing Joel. Charles claimed that while Joel was fighting for his life, he overhead Sexton telling Willie, "It's either Joel or the both of you." Charles also testified that although Willie initially had placed the choking device around Joel's neck, Sexton actually "finished Joel off" by pulling on the choking device.

As to the post-murder events, Pixie testified that when Sexton returned from the woods, he instructed her to get rid of Joel's belongings and told her that if she ever talked about Joel's murder that she "would be next." She also testified that Sexton ordered her and Charles to go and purchase a shovel. Willie stated that before placing Joel's body in the grave, Sexton ordered him to chop Joel's hands off with a machete so that there would be no fingerprint evidence to identify the body. FN6. Willie, however, was unable to complete this task.

(FN6. The State's medical examiner, Doctor Marie Hermann, confirmed portions of Willie's testimony. According to Dr. Hermann, who assisted in the recovery of Joel's body and performed the autopsy, she observed a deep wound on the victim's right hand that was caused by a sharp instrument with great amount of force. The wound was consistent with an attempted dismemberment of the right hand. Dr. Hermann also observed that, upon recovery of Joel's body, there was a ligature device around Joel's neck. Dr. Hermann opined that the cause of death was asphyxiation as a result of ligature strangulation)

Later that evening, Pixie overheard Sexton discussing the killing with Mrs. Sexton, at which time, Sexton stated that he had Willie murder Joel. According to all of the Sexton children who testified, they were instructed by their father to tell anyone, if asked, that Joel had taken the baby and had returned to Ohio. Matthew Sexton also testified that his father told him not to say anything about Joel's death because Sexton and Willie "could get the electric chair." The State presented evidence that Willie had killed Joel because he was ordered to do so by Sexton and because he was afraid of his father. Doctor Eldra Solomon, a clinical psychologist with extensive training in the treatment of child abuse and post-traumatic stress disorder, testified that Willie was controlled by his father, whom Willie "was very eager to please." After reviewing Willie's school records and having Willie conduct the Wechsler Intelligence Test, Dr. Solomon concluded that Willie was developmentally behind and that he had problems with language, speech, memory and motor coordination. The I.Q. test revealed that Willie functioned at the level of a seven or eight-year-old and that ninety-nine percent of the people in his age group would have performed better on the test. Dr. Solomon opined that Willie could not comprehend the concept of death, suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder, and was incapable of planning a homicide.

When Willie talked about Sexton, Dr. Solomon noticed that Willie's demeanor changed dramatically. She observed that Willie began to shake, stammer and stutter, which Dr. Solomon believed were physical manifestations of his fears of his father. Both Dr. Solomon and many of the Sexton children, including Willie himself, testified regarding how Sexton had physically and mentally abused Willie. According to Willie, Sexton began having anal intercourse with him at age nine. This activity continued during the Sextons' stay in Florida. Sexton physically beat Willie with his fists, a belt, a baseball bat, and an electric belt. In addition, Sexton mentally abused Willie by calling him "retarded" and a "stutter bug." Sexton often told Willie, "I brought you into this world, I can take you out of it."

In contrast to the first trial, at the conclusion of the State's case, Sexton presented no defense during the guilt phase of the trial. The jury convicted Sexton and recommended death by a vote of eight to four. The trial court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) Sexton was previously convicted of a prior violent felony (robbery) (little weight); (2) the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest (great weight); and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification (CCP) (great weight). In mitigation, the trial court found one statutory mitigator, that Sexton was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time the murder was committed and gave this mitigator great weight. This mitigator was established based upon the testimony of two psychologists, Doctors Irving Weiner and Frank Wood, who observed Sexton. Dr. Weiner's testing of Sexton revealed that Sexton has an I.Q. in the low 80s, suffers from brain dysfunction, has limited tolerance to stress, and has diminished self-control. Additionally, testing by Dr. Wood revealed that Sexton's brain was diseased, causing him to be non-responsive to emotional situations.

In addition, the trial court found and gave some weight to several nonstatutory mitigators: (1) Sexton was capable of kindness to children and would even act as Santa Claus at Christmas; (2) Sexton was the pastor of a church attended by family and friends; (3) Sexton often helped his mother and sisters with household chores and repairs; (4) Sexton's father died when the defendant was ten years old, depriving him of a male role model; and (5) the codefendant, Willie, received a lesser sentence of twenty-five years' imprisonment. Finding that the aggravators outweighed the mitigators, the trial court sentenced Sexton to death.

Sexton v. State, 775 So.2d 923, 926-929 (Fla. 2000).¹

More specifically and as to the Penalty Phase of the re-trial, the State presented the following evidence in support of a death sentence:

A 1963 certified conviction for robbery by Mr. Sexton was entered into evidence. (R Vol. XI, 889). Teresa Boron testified that Joel Good was her nephew. (R Vol. XI, 890). She had prepared a written statement, which she read to the jury. (R Vol. XI, 891). Joel had lost both his parents by age thirteen. (R Vol. XI, 891). Joel and his brother were then taken care of by their grandparents and aunts. (R Vol. XI, 891). Joel lived with Mrs. Boron from his junior year in high school until he was age 20 and got his first apartment. (R Vol. XI, 891). He was treated like her son. (R Vol. XI, 891).

Joel suffered from learning disabilities and was termed "slow." (R Vol. XI, 891). Although Joel had difficulty in school and with social skills, he was kind and

¹The defendant notes that this Court listed only five nonstatutory mitigators as being considered and found by the trial court, having failed, in error, to list the sixth nonstatutory mitigator of "at times had a normal, loving relationship with his children." <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 923, 929 (Fla. 2000); PCR Vol. 1 p. 42.

had goodness of heart. (R Vol. XI, 891). Joel was kind and gentle. (R Vol. XI, 893). Joel was head over heels in love with Pixie. (R Vol. XI, 892). He married her when she was pregnant to do the right thing. (R Vol. XI, 892). Joel couldn't wait for the birth of the child. (R Vol. XI, 8 92). Mrs. Boron saw the baby once, when he was only a couple of weeks old and Joel was on cloud nine. (R Vol. XI, 893). Joel kissed Mrs. Boron goodbye and said that he would always love her when he left. (R Vol. XI, 893). That was the last time Mrs. Boron saw Joel or the baby alive. (R Vol. XI, 893). According to Mrs. Boron, Joel loved his family very much and would have been a good father to his child. (R Vol . XI, 893). Instead, a year after his disappearance, he returned to Ohio in a sealed vault with his baby son in his arms. (R Vol. XI, 893).

The family grieves for Joel. (R Vol. XI, 894). His disappearance made his grandfather's emphysema worse. (R Vol. XI, 894). Since his death his brother has had trouble keeping jobs and with alcohol abuse. (R Vol. XI, 894). Joel's death was like a wound that won't heal, just when it gets better, something like this new trial come along and it's fresh all over. (R Vol. XI, 895).

Following this testimony, the defense moved for a mistrial, noting that the witness was weeping during her testimony. (R Vol. XI, 895). Two jurors were also weeping and several more looked about ready to cry. (R Vol. XI, 895). The motion was denied. (R Vol. XI, 896).

Asby Barrick testified that he was Joel's uncle. (R Vol. XI, 896). Joel's death affected his brother Daniel deeply. (R Vol. XI, 897).

Joel had a hard time growing up because he was slow. (R Vol. XI, 897). Joel was determined to graduate from high school and did. (R Vol. XI, 897). Joel loved Pixie and his baby, Skipper. He finally had what he always wanted, a family of his own. (R Vol. XI, 897).

The defense presented the following testimony in support of a life sentence:

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