IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDDIE LEE SEXTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-286 L.T. No. 94-1299 B

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In his final sub-claim, Appellant asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State allegedly making disparaging remarks about counsel during closing argument. Specifically, Appellant argues that the State made disparaging remarks when the prosecutor stated:

I would ask that when you consider the evidence and determine what is evidence, that you rely not only on the questions that you've heard someone ask but

upon the answers. Anyone can stand in a crowded room and yell loudly at another man, when did you stop beating your wife, knowing full well that by asking that question you have raised the specter that a fact exists that that person beats the wife. Evidence is not the mere asking of a question and raising the inference. Evidence is proving something.

So when Mr. Terrana asks questions, as he has over the last two days, didn't this happen or didn't that happen or didn't that happen or didn't Willie have sex with Joel and all of these things, it was all denied and all unsubstantiated or unproven. What that is, ladies and gentlemen, is that inflammatory question yelled in a crowded room to somebody: When did you stop beating your wife. The damage is done with asking the question, whether it's true or not, the implication that arises therefrom.

(DAR V10:824-25).

Appellant's trial counsel did not object to the prosecutor's comments, but responded to the prosecutor's argument with the following:

And unlike the prosecutor told you, I'm not up here to attack anyone. I'm not going to scream and yell about Pixie or anyone else. I'm simply going to tell you what the evidence was, and I'm going to point out things that I think you ought to consider with respect to that evidence.

Each of you has to evaluate each witness; and if I tell you something that any witness said or the prosecutor told you something that the witness said and you remember it differently, by all means, rely on your own memory. You're the ones that are judging this case. But it's important to know that you can believe or disbelieve any witness. That's your right.

And the judge is going to tell you that part of the law that you're to follow as jurors, your duty bound to follow, deals with evaluating witnesses, whether or not they were credible. Credibility is a critical issue, not only in this trial, in any trial. You're talking about whether or not someone's guilty of a crime.

(DAR V10:826).

The trial court denied the instant sub-claim and found that the State was merely advising the jury that they should consider the evidence when rendering their verdict and the evidence included both the questions and the answers given by the witnesses, and not just a question which may have raised an The prosecutor noted that many of the questions inference. by defense counsel were denied and unsubstantiated or unproven, and again urged the jury to focus on answers given by the witnesses. Appellant's trial counsel did not object, but rather responded that it was not his purpose to upset or anger a witness but simply "to find out what the facts are, what really happened here." (DAR V10:828). Consequently, as the court found, Appellant failed to meet the first prong of Strickland in that he failed to prove counsel acted deficiently in failing to object to the alleged disparaging remarks about counsel when the State's comments were not improper, but were simply comments advising the jury to consider the evidence, which included not only questions which raised inferences, but the answers that were given to such questions. Because this sub-claim, like the other ten sub-claims raised by Appellant, did not require an evidentiary hearing, this Court should affirm the trial court's summary denial of the claim.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE CLAIM THAT APPELLANT'S CONVICTION IS MATERIALLY UNRELIABLE DUE TO THE CUMULATIVE EFFECTS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND IMPROPER RULINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT?

Appellant claims in his third issue that the cumulative effect of trial counsel's ineffectiveness renders his conviction materially unreliable. The State has shown, however, that none of Appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel claims have merit. The lower court agreed and found that because Appellant had failed to establish any of his allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, he was not entitled to relief under a cumulative error analysis. (PCR V4:785-86).

Counsel asserts that because the lower court summarily denied his guilt phase claims, he is unable to fully develop his claim for appeal. However, as noted in Issue II, supra, the trial court properly denied these claims because the record clearly refutes Appellant's allegations. Additionally, Appellant asserts that there are two instances of deficiencies that this Court recognized on direct appeal, that when combined with the other alleged errors, demonstrate that he is entitled to relief. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the two instances cited by Appellant do not establish ineffectiveness, much less give rise to a finding that his conviction is materially unreliable.

On direct appeal, this Court addressed Appellant's issue that the trial court erred in admitting into evidence testimony relating to the death of the infant, Skipper Lee Good. Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923, 929-30 (Fla. 2000). This Court noted that the issue was not preserved because trial counsel did not raise an objection to this testimony. Although the issue was not preserved, this Court addressed the issue and found that the evidence was relevant. Id. Furthermore, this Court noted this evidence was consistent with the strategy of trying to show that Pixie Good orchestrated Joel's murder, not Appellant. Id. Because trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise an objection to relevant and admissible evidence, and this Court found that the trial court did not make any erroneous rulings concerning this evidence, Appellant's reliance on this "deficiency" is without merit.

Likewise, the second deficiency cited by Appellant does not support his cumulative error claim. On direct appeal, Appellant argued that the trial court erred in admitting victim impact evidence that erroneously focused on the death of Joel Good's deceased infant, Skipper Lee Good. Sexton, 775 So. 2d at 931-33. This Court found that the issue was not preserved below based on trial counsel's objections on other grounds, but nonetheless found that the error did not constitute reversible error. This Court specifically noted that "even if it had been

preserved by proper objection, we would find this testimony harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Id</u>. at 933. Appellant is unable to establish prejudice under Strickland when this Court has already examined the issue and found that the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See generally Darling v. State, 966 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 2007) (stating that defendant is unable to establish prejudice based on prosecutorial misconduct when issue has previously been found to be harmless error); Cox v. State, 966 So. 2d 337, 347 (Fla. 2007) (finding that this Court's previous finding of harmless error on direct appeal was fatal to defendant's subsequent ineffective assistance of counsel claim); Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1045-46 (Fla. 2003) (finding that because defendant could not show that the prosecutor's comments were fundamental error on direct appeal, he likewise cannot show that trial counsel's failure to object to the comments resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the case under the prejudice prong of the Strickland test in postconviction proceedings).

Because there are no individual ineffective assistance of counsel errors to consider, Appellant is not entitled to combine meritless issues together in an attempt to create a valid "cumulative error" claim. See Brown v. State, 846 So. 2d 1114, 1126 (Fla. 2003) (upholding lower court's denial of cumulative error claim when each of the individual claims of ineffective

assistance of counsel had been denied); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2001) (finding no cumulative effect to consider where all claims were either meritless or procedurally barred); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that where allegations of individual error do not warrant relief, a cumulative error argument based thereon is without merit). Accordingly, this Court should deny the instant claim.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS WERE DENIED AND HE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN PURSUING HIS POSTCONVICTION REMEDIES BECAUSE OF THE RULES PROHIBITING COLLATERAL COUNSEL FROM INTERVIEWING JURORS TO DETERMINE IF CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR WAS PRESENT?

Appellant claims on appeal that the lower court erred in denying his claim regarding juror interviews. The lower court found the claim procedurally barred because the claim should have been raised on direct appeal, but was not. (PCR V2:228-29); citing Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1988); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 530 n.6 (Fla. 1999). In addition, the lower court noted that this Court has previously rejected similar claims in Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2001), and Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 2000). The State submits that the lower court properly denied Appellant's claim regarding his right to conduct post-trial juror interviews.

In the recent case of <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S797 (Fla. Dec. 6, 2007), this Court stated that the appropriate standard of review for a trial court's ruling on a motion to interview jurors is abuse of discretion. <u>See also Shere v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 86, 94-95 (Fla. 1991). In the instant case, the trial court acted within its broad discretion in denying

Appellant's procedurally-barred claim relating to juror interviews. 10

Appellant alleged in his postconviction motion that he was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial because he could not investigate "possible misconduct and biases" of the jury. Appellant did not identify any specific incident of possible juror misconduct in his motion. Appellant further asserts that the rule prohibiting his counsel from interviewing jurors, Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, is unconstitutional because it violates his constitutional rights of equal protection and due process. 11

In <u>Barnhill v. State</u>, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S671, S675 (Fla. Oct. 25, 2007), this Court recently rejected the same claim that Appellant raises in the instant case:

Barnhill argues that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.575 violate his constitutional right of equal protection and deny him adequate assistance of counsel in pursuing his postconviction remedies. The State argues this issue is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal. The State also argues that Barnhill fails to identify a specific incident of juror misconduct. We deny relief on this issue consistent with our prior

The State submits that the lower court properly found the instant claim procedurally barred because Appellant failed to raise it on direct appeal. See Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1998).

Appellant notes that since he filed his motion, a new rule governing motions to interview jurors has taken effect. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.575 (effective January 1, 2005).

decisions which have found that rule 4-3.5(d)(4) and rule 3.575, which collectively restrict an attorney's ability to interview jurors after trial, do not violate the defendant's constitutional rights. See Power v. State, 886 So. 2d 952, 957 (Fla. 2004); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So. 2d 1269, 1274 (Fla. 2002); Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218, 1225 (Fla. 2001).

Because Appellant's claim is procedurally barred and lacks merit, this Court should affirm the lower court's denial of the instant issue.

ISSUE V

WHETHER EXECUTION BY LETHAL INJECTION IS CRUEL AND/OR UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT AND VIOLATES APPELLANT'S RIGHTS UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

In his postconviction motion, Appellant asserted that execution by lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. (PCR V1:66-68). The trial court found that the claim was procedurally barred because Appellant did not raise the issue on direct appeal and, relying on precedent from this Court, also found that the claim lacked merit. (PCR V2:229); citing Provenzano v. State, 761 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 2000); Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000); Thompson v. State, 796 So. 2d 511, 515 n.3 (Fla. 2001).

Appellant recognizes in his brief that this Court has consistently denied the instant claim, <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 904 So. 2d 400, 412 (Fla. 2005) and <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006), and also asserts that "the disposition of similar claims may be affected by the outcome of <u>Lightbourne v. McCollum</u>, No. SC06-2391 (Fla. Petition filed Dec. 14, 2006)." In the recent case of <u>Lightbourne v. McCollum</u>, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S687 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2007), this Court noted that the issue before the Court was not whether lethal injection is per se unconstitutional, the claim raised by Appellant in the instant case, but "whether the method of execution through lethal injection, as currently

implemented in Florida, is unconstitutional because it constitutes cruel and unusual punishment." Id. at S689. After conducting a lengthy analysis, this Court ultimately rejected Lightbourne's claim that Florida's current lethal injection procedures, as actually administered through the Florida Department of Corrections, are constitutionally defective in violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Id. at S696. Because Appellant's instant claim is procedurally barred and has been consistently rejected by this Court, and the recent decision in Lightbourne does not impact Appellant's claim, this Court should affirm the lower court's summary denial of the instant claim.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER APPELLANT'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHT AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT WILL BE VIOLATED AS APPELLANT MAY BE INCOMPETENT AT TIME OF EXECUTION?

In his final claim, Appellant asserts that his Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment will be violated if he is found incompetent at the time of his execution. Appellant acknowledges that the claim is not ripe for review and that he raised the issue only in order to preserve the claim for federal review. The lower court denied the instant claim as premature based on this Court's precedent. (PCR V2:231). As this Court recently noted in Barnhill v.State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S671, S675 (Fla. Oct. 25, 2007):

Barnhill concedes that his claim involving competency to be executed is not ripe for review as he has not yet been found incompetent and a death warrant has not been signed. He contends that he is only raising this issue for preservation purposes. This Court has repeatedly found that no relief is warranted similar claims. See State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 n.19 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting the defendant's claim that he is insane to be executed where he acknowledged that claim was not yet ripe and was being raised only for preservation purposes); Jones v. State, 845 So. 2d 55, 74 (Fla. 2003) (finding claim that defendant may be insane to be executed "not ripe for review" where defendant was not yet found incompetent and death warrant not yet been signed; noting that defendant made claim "simply to preserve it for review in the federal court system"); Hall v. Moore, 792 So. 2d 447, 450 (Fla. 2001) (stating that it is premature for a death-sentenced individual to present a claim of incompetency or insanity, with regard execution, if a death warrant has not been signed).

Because the instant claim is not ripe for review, this Court should deny the instant claim.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Appellee respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the lower court's order denying Appellant postconviction relief.